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Built around 1845, the Dickinson House in Grove Hill, Alabama is an early example of 
the influence of the Italianate Style during an era when the Greek Revival prevailed. The 
simple four-room two-story frame house features the central hall plan commonly used for 
structures in the area, but it was embellished with the application of Italianate details. 
On the exterior these appear in the intricately carved doorway, paired windows, bracketed 
cornice, and central wall gable, while on the interior they are found in the octagonal 
parlor. The setting appears to be rural since 70 of the original 170 acres of Dickinson 
land remain.

Most elaborate of the Italianate details is the round-arched doorway with its intricate] 
carved fanlight. The double doors are of heart pine, featuring round-arched and circular 
panels. The rich red and blue glass in the fanlight and side-lights is original. An 
arched moulding encase^ the doorway.

Symmetrically arranged on the three-bay facade are pairs of round-arched windows, 
two on each side of the doorway and three upstairs. The ground floor ones are 4/6 
double-hung sashes, while the second-story ones are similar but have only four lights 
in the lower sashes. Each window is framed with the same carved moulding as that 
around the doorway. In addition, a rectangular casing groups the pairs of windows, 
featuring a plain lug sill below and carved spandrels above. Similar windows are 
repeated on the single bays of the north and south, though the second floor of the 
south side has a simple paired rectangular window.

Further enhancing the facade symmetry are the center gable of the hipped roof and 
the circular attic window. Originally, a full-width porch extended across the facade, 
though neither the style of the porch, the number of stories, nor the date of removal 
is known. Intricately carved brackets support a plain cornice which extends around 
the original portion of the house. Together with the fanlight, these give the house 
its characterizing delicacy.

The interior has for the most part been maintained in its original condition. It 
features a simple central hall plan, with an octagonal parlor and a bedroom downstairs 
and two more bedrooms upstairs. Two interior chimneys on the east have fireplaces 
opening into each room. The parlor mantel is made of white Italian marble, with the 
rest being of pine. The beautiful walnut circular stair in the central hall highlights 
the interior and reflects the carpentering background of the architect. All flooring 
and woodworking is naturally finished heart pine. The octagonal shape of the parlor, 
the marble mantel, and the circular stair give a distinctive quality to the otherwise 
simple interior.

Around 1900 a one-story frame addition was constructed on the east end of the house 
to provide more comfortable living quarters. The second story addition and the east and 
south porches appear to have been added at a later date. In 1950 the interior was renovated, 
and the work included replacing the deteriorated plaster walls with sheetrock. The 
Driginal outbuildings include a kitchen, dining room, and walkway, all of which have 
disappeared. An old well house and a one-room servants house with a brick chimney 
remain. Today the house is in good condition, and it retains its original appearance 
except for the removal of the front porch and the additions on the rear.
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Structurally a typical antebellum country dwelling, the Dickinson House is unusual 
in its application of Italianate ornamentation as a refining device. Its notable 
features include an elaborate fanlight, paired windows, finely carved brackets, an 
octagonal parlor, and a circular stairway. The house was constructed around 1845 for 
Colonel James Shelton Dickinson, one of Clarke County's leading mid-19th century- 
citizens, and it has remained in the family to the present.

The architect is believed to have been an English-born carpenter named James Newman, 
After working as a builder in Virginia, Newman moved to Grove Hill to construct the 
home for Dickinson. His carpentering skills are visible in the Italianate ornamentation.

In 1821 James S. Dickinson (1818-1882) came to Clarke County from Virginia with 
his parents. His father, Richard Dickinson, operated a successful plantation and was 
active in state politics. As a child, the younger Dickinson was educated by private 
tutors and in private schools, and himslef taught at a school near Grove Hill. He 
completed his education at the University of Virginia, where in 1844 he was awarded 
a law degree. In that same year, in Louisa County, Virginia, he married his cousin 
Mary Frances Dickinson, and shortly after settling in Grove Hill they contracted for 
the construction of their home.

During his career, Dickinson operated a law practice as well as involved himself 
in political affairs. In 1853 and 1854 he served in the Alabama Senate, and from 1863- 
65 he was a member of the Confederate Congress in Richmond. At the onset of the Civil 
War, Dickinson organized and financed a Confederate company from Grove Hill known as 
the "Dickinson Guards". The company was actively engaged throughout the war, and though 
Dickinson himself was not enlisted with them, he received the honorary rank of Colonel, 
presumably a state militia title. At the close of the war, he returned to Grove Hill 
and practiced law with the firm of Dickinson and Kilpatrick. He married Alice Savage 
following the death of his first wife in 1864, and he continued to live in Grove Hill 
for the remainder of his life.

The Dickinson House continues to be occupied by direct descendants of Colonel James 
S. Dickinson. It has been kept in good condition, and, except for the rear additions 
and the removal of the front porch, it maintains its original appearance.
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Starting at the northeast corner of the intersection of Polk Street and Murfee 
Avenue and extending 216 feet in a northerly direction; then 24 feet in an easterly 
direction to a point which is the true point of beginning; then turning north for 
453 feet; then east for 91 feet; then southeast for 60 feet; then south for 368 
feet; then east for 171 feet; then south for 79 feet; then west for 213.5 feet; 
then north ofr 36.5 feet; then west for 81 feet to the true point of beginning.


